# Case No. S241471 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Michael McClain, Avi Feigenblatt and Gregory Fisher, Plaintiffs, Appellants and Petitioners, SUPREME COURT FILED

AUG 1 4 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

VS.

Sav-On Drugs, et al.,

Defendants and Respondents.

Deputy

#### PETITIONERS' OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal
Second Appellate District, Division 2
Case Nos. B265011 and B265029
Affirming a Judgment Of Dismissal Following
An Order Sustaining Demurrer Without Leave to Amend
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case Nos. BC325272 and BC327216
Honorable John Shepard Wiley

#### I. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Does the Court of Appeal's opinion *de facto* overrule this Court's opinions in *Loeffler v. Target Corp.* (2014) 58 Cal.4th 108 ("*Loeffler*") and *Javor v. State Board of Equalization* (1974) 12 Cal.3d 790 ("*Javor*") by creating prerequisites to pursuing a *Javor* remedy which are by definition impossible to fulfill, not only for the three million California diabetics in this action, but for all California consumers regarding any sales tax issue?
- 2. In rewriting the presumption in California Civil Code §1656.1 from "rebuttable" to "irrebuttable," does the Court of Appeal cause California's sales tax scheme to violate this Court's direct holding in *National Ice & Cold Storage Co. v. Pacific Fruit Express Co.* (1938) 11 Cal.2d 283 ("*National Ice*"), and by escheating money with no recourse, to violate the U.S. Constitution's Due Process and Takings Clauses?

Fairly included within the above constitutional issues is whether the issues can be resolved on statutory or other narrower grounds. (*Loeffler* at 1102-1103 ["Our jurisprudence directs that we avoid resolving constitutional questions if the issue may be resolved on narrower grounds . . . that . . . 'eliminates doubts as to the statute's constitutionality.'"]. (Citations omitted.)

#### II. INTRODUCTION.

These two lawsuits¹ were brought on behalf of millions of California diabetics who use blood glucose test strips and skin puncture lancets to monitor their blood sugar levels to determine when they need to use insulin. While California law exempts these medically essential products from taxation, Respondent retailers have nonetheless collected "sales tax

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Separate lawsuits were brought for test strips and lancets, resulting in separate appeals. Briefing was consolidated in the courts below as well as here.

reimbursement" from customers on almost every sale and remitted the proceeds to Respondent California State Board of Equalization ("SBE"). The SBE has refused to even consider refunding the wrongfully collected sums, resulting in the State being unjustly enriched by tens of millions of dollars.

The trial court sustained demurrers to Petitioners' operative Fourth Amended Complaint without leave to amend and the Second District Court of Appeal affirmed. (*McClain v. Sav-On Drugs* (2017) 9 Cal. App. 5th 684.) ("*McClain*"). The *McClain* Court *correctly* held that "the chief issue in this appeal is not the merits, but where and by whom they may be litigated." (*Id.* at 702.) However, the *McClain* Court *incorrectly* held that customers who are charged sales tax reimbursement on tax-exempt sales have no standing to recover the improper charges: not against the retailers who overcharged them and not against the State which is unjustly enriched.

The *McClain* Court apparently believed that this result was preordained by this Court's decision in *Loeffler*.<sup>2</sup> However, *Loeffler* did not involve the two causes of action at issue in this appeal. Petitioners' First Cause of Action alleges that the retailers breached the express or implied contractual agreement with their customers for the collection of sales tax

Further, our Supreme Court in *Loeffler*—although silent on this point—noted no constitutional impediment to its ruling that left consumers with no direct remedy for a refund and instead relegated them to urging Board inquiry and to filing claims or actions under the Administrative Procedure Act. (*Loeffler*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4th 1081.) Were we to come to a contrary conclusion, we would effectively overrule *Loeffler*, something we are not allowed to do except in narrow circumstances not present here.

(Emphasis added.)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> See McClain at 704:

reimbursement (such an agreement being required by Civil Code §1656.1). Petitioner's Fifth Cause of Action alleges that Petitioners are entitled to the equitable remedy devised by this Court in *Javor*. Under that decision, each of the Respondent retailers would be compelled by the Superior Court to file refund claims with the SBE, and the SBE would be compelled to pay such amounts into court for distribution to the class members.

Neither of those causes of action was alleged in *Loeffler*, and indeed, the SBE was not even named as a party in *Loeffler*. Nevertheless, this Court went out of its way in *Loeffler* to confirm the continued utility of the *Javor* remedy. (*See Loeffler* at 1133 ["The integrity of the tax system and avoidance of unjust enrichment, possibly of the retailer, but more probably of the state, in certain circumstances may support a *Javor*-type remedy for consumers."].). Moreover, Justice Liu, writing for the three dissenters in *Loeffler*, warned courts to not overread *Loeffler* as precluding all consumer cases involving a sales tax issue: (*Id.* at 1142 ["The court's ruling...need not be read to broadly establish that a consumer action may never go forward if it involves a tax issue."].)

The *McClain* opinion is the first appellate decision interpreting *Javor* since this Court's decision in *Loeffler*. Despite *Loeffler's* affirmation of the *Javor* remedy and Justice Liu's warning, the *McClain* Court read *Loeffler* so broadly as to abolish all legal recourse for consumers who are charged excess sales tax reimbursement on tax-exempt sales. (*See* n.2, *supra.*) Specifically, two holdings of the *McClain* opinion extended this Court's decision in *Loeffler* to mean:

(Holding 1) that customers — who statutorily cannot file refund claims themselves — also cannot bring an action in the Superior Court to compel a retailer to file a refund claim with the SBE, notwithstanding that this Court approved such a remedy for the State's unjust enrichment in *Javor (McClain* at 700-701), and

(Holding 2) that two Tax Code provisions (§6905 and §6901.5) create a "safe harbor" that insulates a retailer from liability for any breach of Civil Code §1656.1's requirement of an express or implied agreement between retailer and customer regarding "whether a retailer may add sales tax reimbursement to the sales price." (*McClain* at 701-702.)

The *McClain* Court reached its first holding by interpreting supposed "prerequisites" for the *Javor* remedy in a manner that no case, not even *Javor* itself, could possibly satisfy, making the *Javor* remedy definitionally impossible. The *McClain* Court's decision therefore amounts to a *de facto* overruling of this Court's opinions in both *Javor* and *Loeffler* (insofar as *Loeffler* affirmed the continued utility of the *Javor* remedy at 1133). Moreover, although the *Javor* remedy has rarely been employed, for 43 years it has served a vital purpose of protecting California's sales tax reimbursement scheme from unconstitutionality. By effectively abolishing the *Javor* remedy and leaving customers with no recourse, the *McClain* Court renders California's sales tax reimbursement scheme unconstitutional under the Due Process and Takings Clauses of the U.S. Constitution.

The *McClain* Court's second holding effectively re-writes Civil Code §1656.1's rebuttable presumption – of consumer consent to the addition of "sales tax reimbursement to the sales price" — into its opposite, an *ir* rebuttable presumption. That is contrary to at least three of this Court's decisions: *Javor*, *Loeffler*, and *Cel-Tech Communications*, *Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co.* (1999) 20 Cal. 4th 163 ("*Cel-Tech*"). It also destroys the consensual constitutional basis for sales tax reimbursement recognized by this Court in *National Ice. McClain* thereby creates a constitutional crisis for the sales tax reimbursement system that has been the foundation of California's sales tax since its inception 84 years ago.

This Court should therefore reverse *McClain* by reinstating Petitioners' First and Fifth Causes of Action and by ordering that Petitioners be granted leave to amend to state a cause of action for "just compensation" under the Takings Clause of the U.S. Constitution.

#### III. THE PROCEEDINGS BELOW

#### A. Relief Sought In The Trial Court.

Petitioners have limited their appeal to the trial court's dismissal on demurrer of two of their seven causes of action:

- (1) Petitioners' Fifth Cause of Action for a *Javor* remedy against all defendants. This cause of action seeks to compel each defendant retailer to file refund claims with the SBE for all amounts that it remitted to the SBE on the sale of glucose test trips and lancets, and to compel the SBE to pay such amounts into court for distribution to the class members. (AA 083-085)
- (2) Petitioners First Cause of Action against the retailer defendants for breach of the contractual agreement required by Civil Code §1656.1 in order for a retailer to collect sales tax reimbursement. This cause of action seeks equitable relief and damages from each defendant retailer for collecting sales tax reimbursement on tax-exempt sales of test strips and lancets in breach of its contractual agreement (required by Civil Code §1656.1), including the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. (AA 077-078.) Petitioners do not seek to enjoin the collection of any sales tax.

In addition, Petitioners appeal the trial court's denial of their request for leave to amend to allege a constitutional Takings Clause claim against the SBE for "just compensation." (AA 622; RT 643:19-644:3; AOB 59-62.)

#### B. The Judgment Appealed From.

At the beginning of the 2/24/2015 demurrer hearing, the trial court announced a tentative basis for sustaining the demurrers:

It's very hotly in dispute, this taxability of the two items in question, strips and lancets.

\*\*\*\*

This case is more like *Loeffler* than *Javor*. So *Loeffler* governs across the board for all causes of action for the reasons the moving parties state.

I agree with Mr. Berry's reply ... that, "The binding Supreme Court decisions in *Loeffler* and *Javor* fully [dispose] of all of Plaintiffs' claims."

... I also completely agree with this sentence [by retailer defendants]: "What made *Javor* unique is, unlike *Loeffler* or the case at Bar, the SBE has already made its taxability determination using its own statutory procedures." So the Court's forced refund order could not interfere with the exclusive powers of the SBE to rule on tax questions.

(RT 605:1-26.)

At the end of the hearing, the trial court confirmed its tentative ruling. (RT 646:6.) It also denied Petitioners' request for leave to amend to add a constitutional claim for "just compensation" under the Takings Clause. (RT 646:7-10.) The trial court did not issue a written opinion.

On 4/15/2015 the trial court entered final judgment of dismissal without leave to amend. (AA 613.) On 6/11/2015 Petitioners' filed timely Notices of Appeal. (AA 619, 621.)

#### IV. LEGAL AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND.

# A. The Statutory Origins Of California Sales Tax And Sales Tax Reimbursement.

The basic structure of California's retail sales tax has always been dogged by constitutional concerns arising from the Legislature's initial decision<sup>3</sup> in 1933 to impose the sales tax on retailers rather than purchasers (as many other states have done<sup>4</sup>). If California had imposed the sales tax on purchasers and tasked retailers with the responsibility of collecting the tax and remitting the proceeds to the SBE, the collection and payment of sales tax would have been much the same as it is now but with one major difference—purchasers would be called "taxpayers" with standing to directly file and prosecute tax refund claims against the SBE. This would be consistent with Code of Civil Procedure ("C.C.P.") §367's public policy favoring real-parties-in-interest. ("Every action must be prosecuted in the name of the real party in interest, except as otherwise provided by statute").

But there was a countervailing consideration. Prior to enactment of the Retail Sales Tax Act of 1933 ("1933 Act"), all banks located in California — both state and nationally chartered — were subject to a franchise tax based upon annual net income *that was in lieu of all other taxes* except those upon real property. (Former Cal. Const. Art. XIII, §16, adopted 11/6/1928.)<sup>5</sup> Likewise, insurance companies doing business in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "[I]t would have been within the power of the legislature to have imposed a tax upon either the retailer or the purchaser...." (*National Ice & Cold Storage Co. v. Pacific Fruit Express Co.* (1938) 11 Cal.2d 283, 290 ("*National Ice*").)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See, e.g. Washington Rev. Code. (ARCW) § 82.08.050; Utah Code Ann,. § 59-12-103; Utah Administrative Code, R865-19S-2.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> "California adopted the in lieu tax on net income and made it applicable to all banks located within the state because tax-rate parity between national

California were subject to an annual tax on gross premiums that was in lieu of all other taxes. (Former Cal. Const. Art. XIII, §14, as amended 11/2/1926). Additionally, the State was precluded from directly taxing the federal government and certain of its agencies by *McCulloch v*. *Maryland* (1819) 17 U.S. 316 ("*McCulloch*") and its progeny. A retail sale to any of those entities would be exempt from a sales tax levied on the purchaser, but might be subject to a tax levied on the non-exempt retailer.

Accordingly, in order to maximize sales tax collections, "[w]hen the Legislature enacted the California Retail Sales Tax Act, it intended that the incidence of the tax be on the retailer, not upon the consumer." (See AA 410 ["One of the primary reasons for drafting the sales tax law as a tax on the retailer rather than the consumer was to provide for uniform application of tax to sales of all consumers, including those consumers who would be exempt were the tax imposed directly on the consumer. These consumers include certain agencies of the federal government and national banks, exempt under federal law, and state banks and insurance companies exempt under state law." (Emphasis added.)].

The Legislature therefore levied the sales tax on retailers "for the privilege of selling tangible personal property." (1933 Act, §3, currently Tax Code §6051.) However, the 1933 Act also provided that, "The tax hereby imposed shall be collected by the retailer from the consumer in so far as the same can be done..." (1933 Act, §8 ½, codified as former Tax

and state banking institutions was a prerequisite for any tax upon national banks." *Hibernia Bank v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1985) 166 Cal. App. 3d 393, 398. The prerequisite was created by former U.S. Rev. Stat. §5219 as amended on March 25, 1926, which "required that any such tax comply with certain conditions, principally designed to prohibit discrimination against national banks." (*American Bank and Trust Company v. Dallas County* (1983) 463 U.S. 855, 861 at n.3.")

Code §6052.) This provision was the origin of California's sales tax reimbursement scheme.

### B. The Differences Between Sales Tax And Sales Tax Reimbursement

Sales tax *reimbursement* is quite different than sales *tax*. Retailers must file sales tax returns and pay sales tax on their gross taxable sales, generally quarterly for the preceding quarter (Tax Code §§6451–6459), regardless of whether they were reimbursed by customers for the tax liability at the point of sale.

Sales tax reimbursement, on the other hand, is a private contractual payment by the customer that "depends solely upon the terms of the agreement of sale." (Civil Code §1656.1.) Sales tax reimbursement is typically collected by the retailer from the customer at the point of sale, but that is *not* legally required as the retailer may absorb the tax instead. (*Loeffler* at 1117.) When the retailer collects more sales tax reimbursement on a transaction than is owed by the retailer on that transaction, the difference is referred to as "excess sales tax reimbursement." If the sale is legally tax exempt, as is the case with respect to pharmacy sales of test strips and lancets, *any amount* collected as "sales tax reimbursement" is "excess sales tax reimbursement" (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, §1700, subd. (b)(1)) and may be returned to the customer by the retailer under Tax Code §6901.5 or by the SBE under Tax Code §6901.6 This case involves what happens when they neglect or refuse to do so.

Tax Code §6901 was amended in 1963 to insert the words "from whom the excess amount was collected or by whom it was paid under this part." That amendment empowered the SBE to return excess sales tax reimbursement directly to customers (the persons "from whom the excess amount was collected") However, the SBE does not acknowledge that power in Reg. §1700, subd. (b)(2). Instead, as here, the SBE retains for the State's coffers all excess sales tax reimbursement remitted by retailers by

# C. The Constitutional Basis For Retailers Collecting Sales Tax Reimbursement.

In 1938 this Court was faced with the following question: By what legal principle is it constitutional for the Tax Code to obligate a purchaser to reimburse a retailer for sales taxes that are legally levied upon the retailer alone? This Court answered that question by holding that there is no such legal principle, and that Section 4 of the 1933 Act was unconstitutional for lack of due process:

[T]o baldly legislate that without, and in the absence of either due or any process of law, a legal debt that is owed by one person must be paid by another, is quite at variance with ordinary notions of that which may be termed the administration of justice. . . [A]ny . . .provision of the statute ... which purports either directly or indirectly to authorize the retailer to collect from or to charge to the purchaser ... the tax imposed upon its retailer ... is unconstitutional and consequently invalid.

(National Ice at 291-292, emphasis added.)

However, this Court threw the SBE a lifeline by which it could avoid unconstitutionality in future cases:

However, such declaration of the law is not intended to indicate the illegality of authority which may be lodged in a retailer to "pass on" the tax to a purchaser with the latter's consent thereto, either expressly or impliedly given. That sort of arrangement between interested parties in such a sale is not here involved.

(*National Ice* at 292, emphasis added.)

Thus, the presence of customer consent "either expressly or impliedly given" became the cornerstone for retailers' right to "pass on" sales taxes to their customers as sales tax reimbursement. In 1978 that

never "certify[ing] or "ascertain[ing] under Tax Code §§6901, 6901.5 or Reg. 1700(b)(2) that a retailer has collected excess tax reimbursement.

concept was incorporated into Civil Code §1656.1, which makes that right "depend[] solely upon the terms of the agreement of sale." (See p. 13, infra.)

Absent customer consent, retailer collection of sales tax reimbursement would be no more constitutional than if the Legislature decreed that buyers of real property must reimburse their seller for capital gains taxes that the seller incurs on the sale. Such shifting of the seller's tax liability to the buyer might be acceptable as a negotiated term of the agreement of sale, but a statute to that effect would be a deprivation of property without due process of law. See, e.g., Oksner v. Superior Court of Los Angeles County (1964) 229 Cal. App. 2d 672, 684 ("Due process forbids the seizure of one man's property for satisfaction of the debt of another.")

#### D. Background on Civil Code §1656.1.

A consensual agreement by customers to pay sales tax reimbursement becomes even more necessary as a result of *Diamond National v. State Equalization Bd.* (1976) 425 U.S. 268 ("*Diamond*"). In a brief *per curiam* opinion, the U.S. Supreme Court reversed the California Court of Appeal on the authority of *First Agricultural Nat'l Bank v. State Tax Commissioner* (1968) 392 U.S. 339, 346-48 ("*First Agricultural*").

In *First Agricultural*, the Court had held unconstitutional Massachusetts' attempt to tax a retailer on sales to a national bank that was tax-exempt under *McCulloch* (except for "in lieu" and other forms of permitted taxation enumerated in former 12 U.S.C. §548). The Court reasoned that the Massachusetts law created a "sales tax which by its terms must be passed on to the purchaser." (*First Agricultural* at 347.) Several provisions of the Massachusetts Act had analogs in California's sales tax law. It is therefore not surprising that the Supreme Court in *Diamond* held

that in California, as in Massachusetts, the incidence of the sales tax was on purchasers, not retailers, notwithstanding that Tax Code §6052 said the opposite. (See Diamond at 268 ["We are not bound by the California court's contrary conclusion and hold that the incidence of the state and local sales taxes falls upon the national bank as purchaser and not upon the vendors."].)

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