Case No. S241471

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

MICHAEL MCCLAIN, ET AL.,

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

vs.

SAV-ON DRUGS, ET AL.

Defendants and Respondents.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

DEC 13 2017

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

**THE RETAILER DEFENDANTS' JOINT
ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District,
Division Three, Case Nos. B265011 & B265029

Appeal from a Judgment of Dismissal
Los Angeles Superior Court, Case Nos. BC325272 & BC327216
Honorable John Shepard Wiley

*Douglas C. Rawles (SBN 154791)
James C. Martin (SBN 83719)
Kasey J. Curtis (SBN 268173)
REED SMITH LLP
355 South Grand Ave., Suite 2900

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. **A *Javor*-Type Remedy Should Not Be Extended To Force Retailers To Pursue A Refund Action Where They Have Remitted Sales Tax Reimbursements To The State, Not Sought An Exemption, And Taxability Is In Dispute**

At bottom, *Loeffler* and *Javor* both hold that any remedy courts permit non-taxpayer consumers to pursue is constrained by, and must be consistent with, the administrative procedures set forth in the tax code. Consistent with *Loeffler*, where, as here, a proposed a remedy or cause of action: (i) fundamentally conflicts with the tax code by infringing on the Board's essential role as the initial arbiter of taxability issues,

(ii) violates the safe harbor retailers enjoy under section 6901.5, and (iii) would force retailers to claim exemptions they are not required to take—the remedy or claim is legally barred. (See *Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1100.) In contrast, where, as in *Javor*, the remedy or cause of action does not fundamentally conflict with the tax code and preserves the Board’s essential function, then it is not necessarily barred and countervailing concerns, such as unjust enrichment, may permit a court to craft appropriate relief. (See *Javor, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at p. 802.)

Plaintiffs’ causes of action, as pled, are incompatible with the tax code and deserve the same fate as *Loeffler*. Just as in *Loeffler*, Plaintiffs’ causes of action demand that the court make the taxability determination with regard to disputed exemption in the first instance. (1AA:83-85, 90.) While that should end the matter, this Court granted review to address a different issue: Whether a purchaser of products allegedly exempt from sales tax, but for which the retailer has collected sales tax reimbursements, may bring an action to compel the retailer to seek a sales tax refund from the Board and remit the proceeds to the purchaser? There are a number of sound reasons this Court should answer that broader question in the negative as well.

**1. Requiring Retailers To Pursue Refund Claims
Where They Have Remitted Sales Tax
Reimbursements Conflicts With The Tax Code By
Violating The Safe Harbor**

No provision of the tax code permits a non-taxpayer consumer to compel a retailer to pursue a refund action on behalf of the consumer. Rather, the Legislature addressed the issue of a retailer's obligations vis-à-vis a consumer by creating the "safe harbor" retailers enjoy under section 6901.5. (See *Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1118.)

In relevant part, section 6901.5 states that when a retailer charges a customer a reimbursement on an amount that is not taxable or is in excess of the taxable amount, "the amount so paid shall be returned by the [retailer] to the customer upon notification by the Board . . . or by the customer that such excess has been ascertained," but a retailer may "fail[] or refus[e] to do so" provided that the "amount that is not taxable or is in excess of the taxable amount, shall be remitted by [the retailer] to this state." (§ 6901.5.)

When a consumer contends excess reimbursement has been charged, section 6901.5 gives the retailer the option of either: (i) returning the excess payment to the consumer; or (ii) refusing to do so and instead remit the money to the Board. (§ 6901.5; *Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1120 ["Based upon the statutory language [of section 6901.5], it appears that a retailer may *refuse* a

consumer's request that excess reimbursement be refunded, so long as the retailer remits the amount to the Board"].) Thus, through section 6901.5, "the Legislature intended to allow a taxpayer to satisfy his or her tax liability on a transaction by paying to the State an equivalent amount of tax reimbursement collected from a customer on the same transaction." (*Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1119.)

Allowing a consumer to force a retailer to litigate taxability by pursuing a refund claim plainly is inconsistent with the safe harbor. Instead of allowing a retailer to discharge its obligation by remitting excess reimbursements to the Board, such a lawsuit would compel the retailer to pursue refund claims at a consumer's behest. The retailer's obligation would not be, as *Loeffler* provides, "at an end." (*Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1120.) Consumers instead would be able to commandeer businesses in which they have no ownership interest to pursue tax refunds for their own reasons. Taken to its natural extension, this theory would authorize any consumer to take control of any business for purposes of tax litigation arising from any transaction that included sales tax reimbursement and the safe harbor would cease to exist.⁶

⁶ In their brief, Plaintiffs contend the burden on the Retailers is minimal, as it boils down to "the price of a postage stamp," and thus would not run afoul of the safe harbor. (OBOM:22.) That is not true. The refund process itself contains a number of time-consuming steps, including the submission of documentation and (continued on next page)

Yet as this Court consistently has made clear, any legal remedies authorized for a non-taxpayer consumer must align with the statutory provisions, not undermine them. A conflicting remedy cannot be permitted. (See *Loeffler*, *supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1133 [“Neither *Javor* [], nor *Decorative Carpets* [], contains language implying that current law—with its firmer identification of the retailer as the taxpayer, its safe harbor for retailers who have paid the State amounts they collected as reimbursement, and its penalty system—would require that a court approve a consumer action that would in various ways be inconsistent with the tax code. Rather, in those cases we warned that any remedy must be constrained by and not *inconsistent* with the tax code . . .”]; see also Part III.A.3, *post* [discussing constitutional concerns presented by failing to adhere to the Legislature’s remedial scheme].) Any effort to engraft a *Javor*-type remedy onto Plaintiffs’ lawsuit should be rejected for this reason alone.

possible appeals. (See, e.g., Cal. Code Regs., tit. 18, §§ 5230, subd. (a), 5235, subd. (c), 5261, subd. (c).) What is more, litigating tax issues in court can itself be a costly endeavor. (See, e.g., *Northwest Energetic Services, LLC v. California Franchise Tax Bd.* (2008) 159 Cal.App.4th 841, 850 [taxpayer incurred over \$200,000 in attorney’s fees litigating constitutionality of tax with government]; *Apple, Inc. v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (2011) 199 Cal.App.4th 1, 26 [taxpayer incurred over \$650,000 in attorney’s fees litigating deductibility issue with government].)

2. Requiring Retailers To Pursue Refund Claims Where They Have Elected To Remit Sales Tax Reimbursements Conflicts With The Tax Code By Forcing Retailers To Take An Exemption

Compelling retailers to pursue a refund action in this case also would directly conflict with the code provision allowing them to elect not to do so. This case involves a purported refund claim regarding the applicability of a sales tax exemption, which under section 6905, retailers have no obligation to pursue. (§ 6905.) This is significant because it is a retailer's burden to establish that an exemption applies in the face of the presumption that all sales are taxable. (§ 6091 ["it shall be presumed that all gross receipts are subject to the tax until the contrary is established. The burden of proving that a sale of tangible personal property is not a sale at retail is upon the person who makes the sale unless he takes from the purchaser a certificate to the effect that the property is purchased for resale"].)

There are, as *Loeffler* notes, multiple reasons why a retailer may elect not to seek an exemption or pursue a refund claim. For example, a retailer may not have adequate records to support the exemption or the costs of pursuing an exemption may be prohibitive compared to paying the tax. Simply stated, "it would not be unreasonable if the retailer's tax payment to some extent erred on the side of considering sales taxable. Indeed, the taxpayer may recognize that it has failed to retain records adequate to carry

its burden of establishing it is entitled to an exemption or has overpaid.” (*Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at p. 1129.)

A *Javor*-type remedy compelling retailers to file refund claims and litigate taxability issues with the Board conflicts with these provisions as well. Rather than giving retailers the option of deciding whether to take an exemption, a *Javor*-type lawsuit would effectively require retailers to take exemptions they have no legal obligation to claim and to pursue a refund action for the benefit of non-taxpayer consumers. That result would, in turn, force retailers to incur the costs and expense of establishing the exemption and distributing the refunds—exactly what the tax code allows them to avoid. This would serve no purpose and do little but to increase the costs retailers would have to charge for their products.

Here again, imposing a *Javor*-type remedy would rewrite the tax code in a manner that makes exemptions mandatory when they are not. This conflict, too, forecloses a *Javor*-type remedy in these circumstances.

3. Requiring Retailers To Pursue Refund Claims On The Demand Of Consumers Where They Have Remitted Sales Tax Reimbursements Presents Serious Constitutional Concerns That Should Be Avoided

Forcing retailers to pursue refund actions where the code relieves them of any obligation to do so puts this Court in a

position of crafting a new tax refund remedial scheme for non-taxpayers. Constitutional concerns strongly counsel against interpreting the law in such a manner and crafting relief the Legislature did not see fit to grant non-taxpayers. Those concerns should be avoided where, as here, there are other ways the dispute can be resolved. (See Part III.B, *post* [discussing other ways the taxability issue could be resolved consistent with the statutory scheme].)

California Constitution, article XIII, section 32, “expressly provides that actions for tax refunds must be brought in the manner prescribed by the Legislature.” (*Woosley, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 789, citing Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 32.) As a result, courts are precluded “from expanding the methods for seeking tax refunds expressly provided by the Legislature.” (*Id.* at p. 792; see also *ibid.* [disapproving *Javor* to the extent it suggests a court is permitted to expand on the methods for seeking tax refunds the Legislature has enacted].⁷)

⁷ It is unclear the extent to which the equitable remedy crafted in *Javor* would still be permissible in light of *Woosley*’s disapproval of *Javor*. (*Woosley, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 792 [disapproving *Javor*].) The Court need not, however, reach that issue as the equitable remedy Plaintiffs contend they should be permitted to pursue in this case would go far beyond what was contemplated in *Javor* and thus is unwarranted for other reasons discussed. (*Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at pp. 1102-1103 [declining to reach constitutional question because case could be resolved on narrower grounds].)

The outcome required by this prohibition is settled as well: Where a plaintiff attempts to pursue a refund action in a manner that has not been expressly authorized by the Legislature, the action is constitutionally barred. (*Woosley, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at pp. 790-792 [plaintiff's attempt to pursue a class action seeking a refund of use taxes paid by the class was barred because the Legislature did not authorize use of class actions to pursue refund claims]; see also *Farrar v. Franchise Tax Bd.* (1993) 15 Cal.App.4th 10, 20-22 [applying *Woosley* and concluding section 32 precluded class refund action in form not expressly authorized by the Legislature]; *Kuykendall v. State Bd. of Equalization* (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 1194, 1203-1204 [discussing this issue].)

Even without reference to section 32, it is a bedrock principle of constitutional jurisprudence that it is the Legislature's role to write the laws and the courts' role to "accept and apply the law as the legislature has written it." (*Helbach v. City of Long Beach* (1942) 50 Cal.App.2d 242, 245; accord *McCann v. Lucky Money, Inc.* (2005) 129 Cal.App.4th 1382, 1387 ["If the Legislature has permitted certain conduct . . . courts may not override that determination"].) "Courts have nothing to do with the wisdom of laws or regulations, and the legislative power must be upheld unless manifestly abused so as to infringe on constitutional guaranties." (*Eye Dog Foundation v. State Bd. of Guide Dogs for Blind* (1967) 67 Cal.2d 536, 544.) These principles should foreclose explanation of *Javor* to reach this case. Courts should act in harmony with

administrative and statutory objectives to preserve the balance our legislatively-established system of taxation intends. (*Id.* at p. 544.)

Further, as a matter of course, the law should be interpreted, and applied, in such a manner as to eliminate potential constitutional concerns. (*Harrott v. County of Kings* (2001) 25 Cal.4th 1138, 1151 [discussing constitutional avoidance]; *Santa Clara County Local Transportation Authority v. Guardino* (1995) 11 Cal.4th 220, 230-231 [same].) Here, the California Constitution “expressly provides that actions for tax refunds must be brought in the manner prescribed by the Legislature.” (*Woosley, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at p. 789, citing Cal. Const., art. XIII, § 32.) Yet, in adopting the tax code, the Legislature saw fit not to give consumers the right to pursue refund actions. Rather than giving non-taxpayers that right, the Legislature instead enacted section 6937 which specifies that only the *taxpayer* is permitted to file a refund claim or sue in court to seek a refund. (§ 6937 [“A judgment shall not be rendered in favor of the plaintiff in any action brought against the board to recover any amount paid when the action is brought by or in the name of an assignee of the person paying the amount or by any person other than the person who paid the amount”].)

Although the Legislature could have enacted a provision that would have permitted non-taxpayers consumers who have contracted to pay sales tax reimbursements to pursue refund claims, it did not to do so. It decided instead that the most appropriate taxation system was one that permitted the taxpayer and only the

taxpayer to pursue refund claims. That legislatively-crafted balance should be honored. (*Woosley, supra*, 3 Cal.4th at pp. 789-792.)

4. Drawing Retailers Into Taxability Disputes Is Not Required To Avoid Unjust Enrichment

Forcing retailers to pursue a refund action in a case like this one where taxability remains in dispute makes no sense because the primary driver that persuaded this Court to allow a *Javor*-type lawsuit to go forward is lacking—the ability to use constructive trust principles to craft a remedy to avoid unjust enrichment.

In *Javor*, absent this Court’s creation of a remedy, the Board would have been permitted to keep money to which it indisputably was not entitled. (*Javor, supra*, 12 Cal.3d at p. 802.) In that unique circumstance, this Court concluded that “[t]he integrity of the sales tax requires not only that the retailers not be unjustly enriched, but also that the state not be similarly unjustly enriched.” (*Ibid.*, internal citation omitted.) Thus, to avoid the unjust enrichment that would otherwise result by permitting the Board to keep funds to which it had no legal right, this Court fashioned a remedy to compel the Board to act. (*Ibid.*) That remedy could involve the retailers because the safe harbor provisions in section 6901.5 did not exist at the time *Javor* was decided. (*Loeffler, supra*, 58 Cal.4th at pp. 1117-1118 [noting section 6901.5 was enacted in 1982, well after *Javor* was decided].)

In a case like this, where the reimbursements have been remitted to the State and taxability remains in dispute, there is no ready analogy to *Javor* as far as the Retailers are concerned. Because there is a live dispute about whether the Board is entitled to the funds in question and it has not been established to whom those funds would be owed (in the event it were determined refunds were owed), there is no “res” for purposes of the constructive trust remedy. Nor, unlike *Javor*, is there a ready means to identify those who are entitled to the benefits of the “trust.” Taxability is in dispute and it is unknown who is entitled to relief or how much relief would be owed. The class here thus does not bear even rough analogy to the documented car purchasers who paid the reimbursements at issue in *Javor*.

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